16:30 to 18:45

Present:

Apologies:

In attendance:

<~ | NORWICH
= | City Council

MINUTES

Scrutiny Committee

Thursday, 17 July 2025

Councillors Wright (Chair), Calvert, Davis, Driver (substitute for
Lawes), Fox (substitute for Galvin), Hoechner, Kendrick, Sands (M),
Sands (S), Smith, Stutely (substitute for Champion).

Councillors Galvin, Lawes, Champion and Fulton-McAlister.

Councillor Jones, Cabinet Member for Housing

Robert Carmichael, Democratic Services Manager

Jan Robinson, Head of Legal and Governance

Emily Yule, Executive Director of Resources,

Chris Haystead, Housing Options Manager

Charlotte McCallister, Housing Partnerships Officer

Hayley Dawson, Single Homelessness / Rough Sleeper Coordinator
Rachel Omori, Independent Living & Collaboration Manager

Max Griffiths, Neighbourhood & Community Enabling Manager

Jenny Walker, Clinical Lead for Inclusion, Health & Homelessness
Team (Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust)

Oliver Holgate, Senior Community Mental Health Nurse (Norfolk and
Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust)

Maria Baranowski, Director of Homeless Services (St Martins
Housing)

Lesley Burdett, Strategy Lead Norfolk (Shelter)

Tracy Williams, Clinical Steward for Health Inequalities and Central
Place (Norfolk and Waveney Integrated Care Board)



10.
10.1

1.

12.

12.1

12.2

12.3

12.4

12.5

Scrutiny Committee: 17 July 2025

Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

Minutes

RESOLVED that the public and exempt minutes of the meeting held on 19
June 2025 were confirmed and signed as a true record.

Provision for people sleeping rough in Norwich with a focus on health
and wellbeing

The Chair welcomed several expert witnesses to the meeting. In attendance
was Jenny Walker and Oliver Holgate from the Norfolk and Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust, Maria Baranowski from St Martins Housing, Lesley Burdett
from Shelter and Tracy Williams from the Norfolk and Waveney Integrated
Care Board.

The Cabinet Member for Housing introduced the report and thanked the
Committee for the opportunity to discuss the item. She explained that,
although as a district authority health and wellbeing was not entirely within the
Council’s remit, it was a crucial part of basic needs. A multi-agency approach
was necessary to address fundamental needs and to influence areas beyond
the Council’s direct control.

Officers clarified that the report was based on the scoping document that a
Member of the Committee had submitted to officers at the start of the civic
year. The scoping document had suggested that feedback from relevant
organisations and service users was included in the report brought to the
Committee, and that they were invited to the meeting. Officers explained that
expert withesses had been invited, but inviting service users had not been
explored.

In response to a Member’s question, the Single Homelessness / Rough
Sleeper Coordinator explained that the MEAM (Making Every Adult Matter)
Navigator role was created after the Rough Sleeping Initiative Funding had
been repurposed. The role was in it's second year of funding and aimed to
address systemic barriers and gaps in provision. The Single Homelessness /
Rough Sleeper Coordinator clarified that once the role reached the end of its
second year, officers would be able to evaluate its success.

Noting the challenging and limitations detailed in the report, a Member asked
what the Council was doing to mitigate the impact of staff turnover and job
insecurity due to short-term funding. The Housing Partnerships Officer



12.6

12.7

12.8

12.9

12.10

Scrutiny Committee: 17 July 2025

acknowledged that yearly funding did not give staff certainty, however, the
government had reassured officers that a two-year funding round would be
announced later in the year, which would alleviate some pressure. The
Housing Options Manager explained that officers discussed funding
arrangements openly and transparently and frequently looked for means to
repurpose funding.

Discussion ensued on partnership working. A Member asked if it would be
possible for external partners to work with officers at City Hall. The Housing
Partnerships Officer informed Members that some external partners had
shared office space at City Hall, however, limitations around Wi-Fi and
systems access meant that it was not a viable long-term option.
Conversations were ongoing with the Council’s IT team on the matter. The
Strategy Lead Norfolk (Shelter) commented that City Hall may not be the best
building to co-locate as the public may want to access independent services
and would not identify City Hall as the location to receive that support.

The Independent Living & Collaboration Manager commented that Council
officers did work closely with teams at St Martins Housing, Citizens Advice
Bureau, Mind, and Age UK. Officers were also taking part in Homeless Link’s
trauma-informed practice work. The Director of Homeless Services (St
Martins Housing) added that Pathways Norwich, a consortium of seven
organisations, was commissioned by Norwich City Council and was an
integrated service. The partners involved in the consortium frequently worked
together, including sharing spaces, attending regular team meetings and
carrying out joint outreach.

In response to a Member’s question on data collection, the Single
Homelessness / Rough Sleeper Coordinator clarified that data was collected
and was widely available. The Housing Partnerships Officer added that a new
Data Analyst role had been introduced within Pathways and their role would
be to drill down into the data and make it more presentable. The data showed
that 50% of people returned to rough sleeping, however they were not all
necessarily within Norwich. As people moved around and into different local
authority areas, the data could be difficult to collect.

The Chair asked if there was a national data set, or if providers collected data
separately. The Single Homelessness / Rough Sleeper Coordinator noted that
the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government did collect data
and officers submitted data monthly onto a system called Delta. In response
to a question from the Chair, the Single Homelessness / Rough Sleeper
Coordinator explained that the national data did not connect the numbers to
real people, but that was done within Norwich. The Clinical Lead for Inclusion,
Health & Homelessness Team (Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust)
commented that the data only told a small part of the story and case studies
were highly valuable within her work.

The Director of Homeless Services (St Martins Housing) explained that the
MEAM Navigator role was investigatory and that they had joined the



12.11

12.12

12.13

12.14

12.15

Scrutiny Committee: 17 July 2025

Safeguarding Adults Board to set up a process for understanding complex
cases. The Clinical Steward for Health Inequalities and Central Place (Norfolk
and Waveney ICB) added that the Homelessness Solution Form brought
districts together across various sectors to tackle the complex issues.

A Member asked what percentage of people presenting as homeless in
Norwich had a veterans background. The Housing Options Manager told
Members that the number was low, mainly due to the support available to
veterans through various charities. The Council was part of the Norfolk Armed
Forces Covenant Board and attended a veterans’ forum.

A Member noted that the report stated that service user involvement was
essential to the process of guiding targeted interventions and ensuring
services were aligned with evidence-based needs and asked how this
involvement would be carried out. The Single Homelessness / Rough Sleeper
Coordinator welcomed all Members to join them and speak to service users
directly when the team did outreach. External partners emphasised that
involving service users could be impactful and positive experiences for those
involved, but it took specialist support and dedicated resource to avoid re-
traumatising people. The Housing Partnerships Officer noted that the Council
had consulted with people with lived experience when crafting the
Homelessness Strategy and were consulting groups throughout the update of
the Allocations Policy also.

In response to a Member’s question, the Housing Options Manager explained
that the Council was part of the Accommodation for Ex-Offenders (AfEO)
programme. The programme had been running successfully in Norfolk for five
years and aimed to prevent homelessness. The Housing Options Manager
informed Members that the Council had recently recruited an Assessment
Officer to deal with applications. In the last year, the Council had supported
approximately 75 people through the programme and was hoping to continue
the programme, dependent on government funding.

In response to a Member’s question, the Housing Options Manager explained
that at any given time, the Council’s Relief team was dealing with
approximately 140 homelessness active applications and approximately 350-
400 supported accommodation beds and temporary accommodation. The
Council was stringent that people needed a local connection in Norwich, or
they would be referred to services elsewhere and given an appropriate point
of contact.

A Member asked external partners to comment on what they believed to be
the cause of homelessness in Norwich. The Strategy Lead Norfolk (Shelter)
stated that the only way to end homelessness was to provide more, affordable
homes and greater regulation in the private rented sector. She advised that
Norwich City Council should thoroughly scrutinise every development to
ensure that it met housing needs and ensured the delivery of safe homes. The
Strategy Lead Norfolk (Shelter) agreed with the Cabinet Member for housing
that having a safe home was the baseline for many other fundamental needs



Scrutiny Committee: 17 July 2025

such as access to GPs and mental health services. The Clinical Steward for
Health Inequalities and Central Place (Norfolk and Waveney ICB) stated that
for many people, trauma, poor health and complex needs were causing
factors of homelessness and that was where Pathways could provide a
creative solution.

12.16 A Member asked if the aforementioned issues were a problem specific to
Norwich and if Norwich was facing greater difficulties than other places across
the country. The Strategy Lead Norfolk (Shelter) explained that the issues
facing other Shelter hubs across the country were very similar and Norwich
was not unique. The Single Homelessness / Rough Sleeper Coordinator
noted that officers had visited other local authorities to understand the issues
that they face.

12.17 A Member requested to see the full Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government Norwich Rough Sleeping Pathway Review report, as
opposed to the executive summary provided. The Housing Options Manager
agreed to circulate that to Members outside of the meeting.

12.18 Discussion ensued on those who had outstanding debts to the Council and
whether this impacted their ability to secure a tenancy in the future. The
Housing Options Manager explained officers typically asked clients to
evidence that they have addressed the outstanding debts by setting up a
repayment plan and maintaining this. If a person was homeless due to
another reason, such as being the victim of domestic abuse, the arrears
would not matter as the Council had a duty to rehouse people.

12.19 As the report detailed the importance of a trauma-informed approach, a
Member asked if all staff at City Hall who dealt with vulnerable people had
received training on this. The Independent Living & Collaboration Manager
could not confirm if every member of staff had received training, but it was
available to staff. She explained that the Council had a Vulnerability
Framework and training on that would be delivered in the autumn. Officers
also received safeguarding training.

12.20 In response to a Member’s question about people experiencing homelessness
with dogs, the Housing Options Manager informed Members that the Council
had recently joined an agreement with Dogs Trust in which Dogs Trust would
foster the dogs of homeless clients whilst they were in temporary
accommodation that could not accommodate dogs. He noted that it was
challenging to find temporary accommodation that accepted dogs, and this
created a supply and demand issue.

12.21 (Councillor Kendrick joined the meeting)
12.22 The Chair thanked everyone for a thorough and interesting discussion.

12.23 RESOLVED to:



13.
13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

13.5

13.6

Scrutiny Committee: 17 July 2025

1. Request a further report on provision for people sleeping rough in
Norwich at the beginning of the next civic year.

2. Note following action: to ask officers to circulate the Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government Norwich Rough
Sleeping Pathway Review to Members outside of the meeting.

Update on Severe Weather Emergency Provision (SWEP) 24-25

The Cabinet Member for Housing introduced the report and thanked the
Committee for the opportunity to provide an update, following a previous
review at a Scrutiny Committee meeting in September 2024. She highlighted
that SWEP had been used throughout the summer, as well as the winter
months, and there had only been one occasion in which someone could not
access SWEP due to risk factors.

A Member noted that a table in the report showed that different authorities
activated SWEP for varying numbers of nights and asked officers why there
was such a difference. The Single Homelessness / Rough Sleeper
Coordinator explained that Norwich’s move-on accommodation offer was
quicker than others and different authorities had different levels of provision.

In response to a Member’s question, the Cabinet Member for Housing
explained that the Council had engaged with MAP and other organisations to
work in partnership. The Housing Partnerships Officer added that the Council
had moved to a person-centred approach in 2025 in order to work with
providers in the City and find the most appropriate accommodation for
individual people. In response to a concern about a lack of provision for young
people, she explained that it was more appropriate for people under age 25 to
work with the YMCA.

A Member asked if officers had regular meetings with partner organisations in
relation to SWEP. The Cabinet Member for Housing explained that she and
the Housing Partnerships Officer met regularly with partners to discuss
strategic matters. The Housing Partnerships Officer also attended case
discussions on a bi-weekly basis.

Discussion ensued on the activation of SWEP. The Single Homelessness /
Rough Sleeper Coordinator explained that SWEP was activated on certain
cold nights and when weather warnings were in place, including due to heat.
The Cabinet Member for Housing added that the criteria had been amended
to align with Homeless Link guidance.

In response to a Member’s question about the person who was turned away,
the Single Homelessness / Rough Sleeper Coordinator explained that he was
declined on the first occasion but accepted when he presented a second time
as a suitable solution had been found.



13.7
13.8

14.

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

14.5

14.6

Scrutiny Committee: 17 July 2025
(Clir Davis left the meeting)

The Chair thanked officers for the update.

Update on Refugees and Asylum Seekers

The Cabinet Member for Housing introduced the report and highlighted the
examples of partnership working with organisations such as NCAN and the
City of Sanctuary work.

The Neighbourhood & Community Enabling Manager updated Members on
recent events, including the completion of Refugee Week which had been
launched in the Council Chamber in June 2025. Offices and Councillors had
also been invited to attend sanctuary training. He also updated Members on
the development of a Sanctuary strategy. Several co-production workshops
had been hosted towards the end of 2024 and a draft strategy had been
developed. The strategy would continue to be co-produced.

A Member asked whether the strategy would go out for public consultation
and if there would be an opportunity for Councillors to feed into the process.
The Neighbourhood & Community Enabling Manager agreed that consultation
was very important. The first step was to go back to the Sanctuary
Ambassadors and seek guidance on how to consult the wider population. He
stated that the strategy would be seen by Councillors and links had also been
established with the University of East Anglia who ran the Sanctuary
Ambassador Scheme. On a broader level, the Council was linked into the City
of Sanctuary Network and organisations across the City were involved.

Discussion ensued on the private rented sector. The Housing Partnerships
Officer advised that in the last two years, the Council had allocated some
asylum dispersal grant money to assist people with accessing the private
rented sector. In the last 12 months, officers had helped house 120 refugees
using private rented incentives.

A Member commented that in Bowthorpe, the Hope Community Trust
organisation ran craft and DIY workshops which had been attended by asylum
seekers in Norwich. The Member commented that this was positive and
supported skills-building and integration.

A Member asked if there were any barriers to becoming a Council of
Sanctuary. The Neighbourhood & Community Enabling Manager explained
that there was lots of work required to become a Council of Sanctuary and
this was somewhat challenging with the resources available. However, he
explained that the Council was working well with partners and building
positive relationships.



Scrutiny Committee: 17 July 2025

14.7 In response to a Member’s question, the Neighbourhood & Community
Enabling Manager clarified that there were Schools of Sanctuary in Norwich.
The schools worked directly with the City of Sanctuary Group, which was run
independently by volunteers. The Council itself did not work directly with
sanctuary schools.

15.  Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2024-25

15.1  The Chair introduced the report, highlighting that it was in draft form and
would include a Chair’s Foreword ahead of its submission to Full Council in
September 2025.

15.2 RESOLVED to note the report prior to its submission to full Council in
September 2025.

16. Work Programme

16.1 The Chair had received representations from several Members of the
Committee and had received a recommendation from the Cabinet that the
Scrutiny Committee review Lion Homes. The Chair proposed that members
contact him outside of the meeting to share comments or suggestions for the
scope of the review and he would share this with officers to enable them to
draft a scope for the next meeting of the committee.

16.2 A Member requested an update on the Community Safety Partnership item
which was listed as TBC on the Work Programme. Officers advised that this
would likely be scheduled for November and this would be reflected on the
Work Programme at the next meeting.

16.3 RESOLVED to:
1. Agree the work programme.

2. Note the following action: Members to send any comments or
suggestions for the scope of the Lion Homes review to the Chair ahead
of the next meeting.

CHAIR



